THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Trial Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000182

RECEIVED
DEC 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Donald Stanley and Sean Reiter,
Individually and as Class Representatives, Respondents,

v.

Southern States Police Benevolent Association, Inc.,Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SOUTHERN STATES
POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.**

James Edward Bradley, Esquire
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160

J. Andrew Yoho, Esquire
Boyle, Leonard, & Anderson, P.A.
28 Hasell Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 576-4141

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

(1) Whether the trial court erred in granting certification to an injunctive relief class where, among other things, there is no threat of imminent harm, one Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue the requested injunctive relief, and where Plaintiffs cannot satisfy any of the requirements for injunctive relief;

(2) Whether the trial court erred in granting certification of a damages class where neither named Plaintiff is a member of the proposed class, neither Plaintiff has sustained any recoverable damages, and Plaintiffs' claims are riddled with individual issues that cannot be adjudicated on a classwide basis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Parties

1. PBA

PBA, which has been in existence since 1987, is a 501(c)(5) non-profit, tax-exempt corporation organized under Georgia law and is headquartered in McDonough, Georgia. (PBA Resp. to Pls.' Mtn. for Class Cert. (R. p. 1177)). PBA operates as a labor organization for the welfare of its police officer members to improve working conditions, reduce the hazards of law enforcement, and enhance the professionalism of law enforcement. (*Id.* (R. p. 1177)). PBA is funded by membership dues, and its benefits from those dues include lobbying efforts, endorsement of candidates for office, accidental death benefits, publication of a police magazine, a legal defense benefit, and representation in grievance and disciplinary matters in the administrative context. (*Id.* (R. p. 1177)).

The legal defense benefit provided as part of the PBA Membership Plan (the "Plan"),

provides, subject to terms and conditions, payment for an attorney to represent the member (at no cost to the member with no caps or limits) should a member ever be involved in a critical incident such as a shooting or sued as a result of actions taken as a result of his or her employment as a law enforcement officer, including any criminal investigation of a PBA member or civil litigation. (*Id.* (R. p. 1178); Legal Defense Plan document (R. pp. 31-39)). At the time of class certification, the PBA was providing counsel to seventy PBA members that reside in South Carolina. (7/10/18 Aff. of Charles Cordell (R. p. 601, para 4)).

2. Plaintiffs

Plaintiff Donald Stanley is a patrol lieutenant in the Charleston County Sheriff's Office. (Stanley Dep. (R. p. 628, lines 6-10)). He joined PBA in October 1994. (*Id.* (R. p. 638, lines 13-16)). His wife, also in law enforcement, is a lieutenant in the North Charleston Police Department. (*Id.* (R. p. 625, lines 8-17)). She has been a member of PBA for over 20 years. (*Id.* (R. p. 625, lines 20-23)). At some point during his PBA membership – he believes it was 1997 or “in that range” when he worked with the North Charleston Police Department – Mr. Stanley served as a board member for his local PBA chapter. (*Id.* (R. p. 641, lines 16-25)). He has not attended local meetings, however, in 15 to 20 years. (*Id.* (R. p. 672, lines 1-7); *see also id.* (agreeing that “[o]ther than [being] a member,” he has not “been active in the PBA, in the last 15 or 20 years”) (R. pp. 676, line 25- p. 677, line 2)).

In March 2005, Mr. Stanley was accused of striking a child with his departmental vehicle. (*Id.* (R. p. 745, line 12 - p. 746, line 6)). While not recalling the circumstances in which the PBA assigned him an attorney, he acknowledged PBA paid attorney Andy Savage to represent him.¹ (*Id.* (R. p. 748, lines 10-17)). He further acknowledged that he had no complaints with Mr.

¹ Mr. Savage is counsel of record for Plaintiffs in this matter.

Savage's representation. (*Id.* (R. p. 748, lines 18-20)). In March 2016, Mr. Stanley was named as a co-defendant in a lawsuit brought by Akiliou Smith. (*See Smith v. Charleston County, et al.*, Case No. 2:16-cv-00655-PMD (D.S.C.) (R. pp. 239-248)). Upon learning he was named in the suit, Mr. Stanley called PBA, which supplied him with counsel to defend him in the *Smith* lawsuit. (Stanley Dep. (R. p. 741, lines 6-15)). As Mr. Stanley testified, he had no concerns with PBA's obtaining legal counsel for him, nor did he believe PBA did anything wrong in hiring his counsel. (*Id.* (R. p. 744, lines 11-19)). In fact, Mr. Stanley was dismissed as a defendant from that case in March 2019. (*See Smith v. Charleston County et al.*, Case No. 2:16-cv-00655-BHH, D.E. 78 (Order Ruling on Report and Recommendation)).

Plaintiff Reiter worked for the Charleston County Sheriff's Office from 2002 to 2007 and for the North Charleston Police Department from 2009 to 2016. (Reiter Dep. (R. p. 779, lines 3-14)). In June 2016, he obtained a job in New Jersey with CSX Transportation as a "railroad police officer." (*Id.* (R. p. 779, line 22-p. 780, line 3; p. 785, lines 19-20)). At that point, he left PBA. (*id.* ("When I left the state [of South Carolina], I was no longer a member of PBA.") (R. p. 790, lines 8-9)). While he was with PBA, he was elected a leader for his local chapter for nearly a year. (*Id.* (R. p. 768, lines 23-24)). In June 2004, Mr. Reiter had an automobile accident in which he struck and killed a pedestrian, and he contacted PBA after the accident. (Reiter Dep. (R. p. 793, lines 3-5)). PBA assigned him a lawyer – one of Plaintiffs' counsel of record, Mr. Savage, who are now *suing* PBA in this case – and Mr. Reiter agreed he was pleased with his lawyer's work on the case. (*Id.* (R. p. 793, lines 22-25)). Other than a slight delay in having that lawyer assigned, Mr. Reiter did not find any fault with how PBA reacted in that situation. (*Id.* (R. p. 794, lines 1-3)). Of course, Mr. Reiter did not have to pay for that representation. (*Id.* (R. p. 815, lines 19-20)).

B. The Slager Events and Case

It is undisputed this case springs from the highly publicized arrest and conviction of Michael Slager, an officer in the North Charleston Police Department who, in 2015, shot and killed an unarmed African American man, Walter Scott. *See generally United States v. Slager*, 912 F.3d 224, 227-32 (4th Cir. 2019) (describing the facts of the *Slager* case). In early 2019, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Slager's 240-month sentence for depriving Mr. Scott of his civil rights under color of law. *See id.* at 232-38.²

Mr. Slager was a member of PBA at the time of his arrest. (*See Slager v. Southern States Police Benevolent Ass'n*, Case No. 2:15-cv-4536-DCN, D.E. 32 (D.S.C. Aug. 3, 2016), Order (R. pp. 951-952)). As such, he requested that PBA defend him in the criminal proceedings. (*Id.* (R. p. 952)). PBA agreed to that request and assigned him counsel. (*Id.* (R. p. 952)). Subsequently, after investigating further, PBA concluded it would not provide coverage under the Plan's intentional acts exclusion as it had determined Mr. Slager had committed an "intentional violation." (*Id.* (R. pp. 952-953)). That decision prompted Mr. Slager to sue PBA in federal court in South Carolina; the parties settled that lawsuit out of court in May 2017. (*See Slager v. Southern States Police Benevolent Ass'n*, Case No. 2:15-cv-4536-DCN, D.E. 41 (D.S.C. May 2, 2017) (order of dismissal)). In the civil case against PBA, Mr. Slager was represented by the Bland Richter firm, which also is counsel of record for Plaintiffs in this case. (*See* 10/22/18 Class Cert. Hrg. Tr. ("Our law firm brought a lawsuit [on behalf of Mr. Slager] at that time.") (R. p. 109, line

² The Fourth Circuit's opinion detailed what it termed "four different accounts as to what happened" in the Scott shooting that Mr. Slager put forth over the course of his criminal case. *See Slager*, 912 F.3d at 229-30. As the Fourth Circuit observed, "the district court discredited Defendant's testimony, characterizing it as 'contradictory,' 'self-serving, evolving, and internally inconsistent.'" *Id.* at 231 (quoting *United States v. Slager*, 2018 WL 445497, *4, *6 (D.S.C. Jan. 16, 2018)).

13)).

C. Plaintiffs' Claims

Plaintiffs assert claims against PBA for (1) breach of contract; (2) negligence; (3) breach of fiduciary duty; (4) unjust enrichment; (5) fraud in the inducement; (6) negligent misrepresentation; and (7) injunctive relief. (*See* Am. Complaint, (R. pp. 215-220, paras 83-127)). The trial court's Order Certifying Plaintiff Class ("Class Certification Order") states Plaintiffs allege the Plan was actually either (1) a policy of insurance; or (2) a "prepaid legal services plan," neither of which PBA was authorized to sell. (Class Certification Order (R.,p. 5)). They allege PBA did not comply with the legal services plan requirements under South Carolina law because it provided legal defense counsel to its members from a panel of defense attorneys rather than notifying its members they could choose their own attorneys.³ (*Id.* (R. p. 5)). They further allege PBA failed to disclose to its members the Plan permitted PBA to withhold benefits "its members pay for if it determines that the member "has committed an intentional, deliberate, and/or illegal act." (*Id.* (R. pp. 5-6)). Plaintiffs seek "injunctive relief and damages, namely a rescission of the Plan and a refund of member dues or premiums paid, together with additional relief." (*Id.* (R. p. 6)).⁴

In reality, though, Plaintiffs and their lawyers simply do not like the fact PBA withdrew its defense of Michael Slager; both Plaintiffs made that clear in their depositions. (*See* Stanley Dep. (with regard to "what happened with Mr. Slager and the PBA, testifying that "I was disgusted by

³ Notwithstanding the Class Certification Order's recital of those allegations, the operative Complaint – the Amended Complaint – does not, in fact, make such allegations; therefore, inclusion of those allegations in the Order was in error and should be corrected by this Court.

⁴ Even though he purports to seek a return of dues he paid to the PBA, Mr. Stanley was unwilling to repay to PBA the legal fees for the lawsuit in which PBA-funded counsel defended him (Stanley Dep. (R. p. 707, lines 16-22)), even though he was dismissed from that lawsuit in 2019.

it. . . . I felt it was completely inappropriate.”) (R. p. 653, lines 18-24); Reiter Dep. (Q. “Were you upset that the PBA did not assume the defense of Michael Slager?” A. “Yes, sir.”) (R. p. 784, lines 22-24)). Beyond the Slager events, however, neither Plaintiff can identify a single instance in which PBA has failed to provide them with the benefits of their membership or that PBA has committed any wrongful acts. As Plaintiff Reiter testified, other than the Slager events, (1) he knows of no other harm the PBA is causing (Reiter Dep. (R. p. 804, lines 19-21)); (2) the PBA never refused anything he asked it to do (*id.* (R. p. 798, lines 16-18)); (3) he is unaware of an untruthful representation made by the PBA (*id.* (R. p. 807, lines 10-15)); (4) he knows of no acts PBA has committed in bad faith or that he believes constitute a breach of contract (*id.*, (R. p. 813, lines 8-10; lines 16-19)); and (5) he knows of no one, including himself, whose rights have been damaged or who have in fact been damaged by any actions of the PBA. (*id.* (R. p. 814, lines 9-22)). Indeed, when asked what he expected to receive for being a member of PBA, Mr. Reiter responded, “That as long as I was acting in the line of duty, I would be provided an attorney,” and when asked “[d]id you receive what you expected,” he replied, simply and succinctly, “I did, yes.” (*id.* (R. p. 824, lines 2-5; lines 8-10)).

Plaintiff Stanley testified similarly. Excluding the Slager events, Mr. Stanley testified that (1) PBA has never misrepresented anything to him or anyone else (Stanley Dep. (R. p. 677, line 21-p. 678 line 4; p. 679, lines 16-18; p. 703, line 25-p. 704, line 2)); (2) PBA has not committed an act that he would consider fraudulent (*id.* (R. p. 677, line 22- p. 678, line 6)); (3) PBA has never misled anyone (*id.* (R. p. 678, lines 10-12)); and (4) other than the possibility of his encountering a “similar situation” to that which Mr. Slager encountered (notwithstanding the undisputed fact that Mr. Stanley received full, effective, and cost-free representation from the PBA in his own lawsuit), he has not been damaged, nor does he know of anyone else who has been damaged (*id.*

(R. p. 692, lines 11-16, p. 698, lines 17-25)). He agreed, other than the Slager events, the PBA has done nothing that he would consider “unfair,” in bad faith, or in breach of contract. (*Id.* (R. p. 697, line 16- p. 698, line 10)).

II. PROCEEDINGS IN THE CASE

A. Proceedings in the Trial Court

Plaintiff Stanley filed his original complaint on August 4, 2016, in the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Charleston County. (R. pp. 17-44). On November 22, 2016, Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, which added Mr. Reiter as a named Plaintiff. (R. pp. 45-80). PBA filed a motion to dismiss and Plaintiffs filed a motion to strike PBA’s answer; the trial court denied both motions on July 31, 2017. (R. pp. 365-380; pp. 381-395; pp. 1-2). PBA filed a motion for summary judgment, which the trial court denied on November 15, 2017. (R. pp. 432-33; pp. 1055-1128; p. 3).

Plaintiffs filed their motion for class certification on November 13, 2017. (R. pp. 434-449). PBA filed its opposition to the motion on July 11, 2018. (R. pp. 1176-1237). The trial court held argument on the motion on October 22, 2018. (R. pp. 105-161). On December 31, 2018, the trial court entered the Class Certification Order (R. pp. 4-15), which certified a class of [a]ll residents of South Carolina who participated in the Defendant’s Legal Defense Benefit Plan by paying ‘member dues’ to the Defendant in exchange for benefits of said Plan from August 4, 2013 to August 4, 2016, while excluding from the class “Defendant’s current and former executive and local board members or executive level officers, employees, and persons that timely and properly exclude themselves from the class.” (Class Cert. Order (R. p. 15)). The trial court further ordered that “no party shall communicate with the class members regarding this class action and the allegations contained therein.” (*Id.* (R. p. 15)).

The PBA moved for reconsideration of the Class Certification Order on January 14, 2019, which the trial court denied. (R. pp. 468-892; p. 16). The parties agreed to stay further proceedings in trial court during the pendency of this appeal.

B. Proceedings in This Court

On February 6, 2019, PBA filed its notice of appeal of the Class Certification Order with this Court. On February 14, 2019, this Court dismissed PBA's appeal. On April 8, 2019, PBA moved for rehearing of that order. On May 22, 2019, this Court granted PBA's petition for rehearing and ordered the parties to brief PBA's appeal.⁵

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's decision whether to certify a class is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. See *Bazzle v. Green Tree Financial Corp.*, 351 S.C. 244, 266-67, 569 S.E.2d 349, 361 (2002), *vacated on other grounds*, 539 U.S. 444 (2003); *Waller v. Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 300 S.C. 465, 468, 388 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1990). The Court, however, does not accord deference to errors of law. See *Gardner v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 353 S.C. 1, 20-21, 577 S.E.2d 190, 200 (2003) ("We generally defer to the trial court's discretion in granting class certification *absent an error of law.*") (emphasis added); see generally *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Co. Planning Comm'n*, 426 S.C. 97, 103, 825 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2019) ("An abuse of discretion occurs [when] the trial court is controlled by an error of law or [when] the [c]ourt's order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support.") (brackets

⁵ Despite the pendency of this appeal, Plaintiff Stanley has petitioned the Supreme Court for a writ of mandamus that would direct the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs Administrator and Consumer Advocate to enforce S.C. Code Ann. § 37-16-50 against the PBA. See *Stanley v. S.C. Dept. of Consumer Affairs Admin. and Consumer Advocate Grube Lybarker*, Case No. 2019-000866 (S.C.). The Administrator has filed a response opposing the petition, and as of this date, the Supreme Court has not yet issued a ruling on Plaintiff Stanley's petition.

original) (citing *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2000)).

ARGUMENT

“Proponents of the class certification bear the burden of proving [that the] prerequisites of class certification have been met.” *Waller*, 300 S.C. at 467, 388 S.E.2d at 801 (citing *Windham v. American Brands, Inc.*, 565 F.2d 59 (4th Cir. 1977)). Rule 23(a), SCRCF, sets forth the five prerequisites: (1) the class must be “so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable”; (2) there must be “questions of law or fact common to the class”; (3) the “claims or defenses of the representative parties [must be] typical of the claims or defenses of the class”; (4) the representative parties [must] fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class”; and (5) “the amount in controversy [must] exceed[] one hundred dollars for each member of the class.” *Gardner*, 353 S.C. at 20-21, 577 S.E.2d at 200. Failure to establish even one of the five elements “is fatal to the certification of a class.” *Waller*, 300 S.C. at 469, 388 S.E.2d at 802. Furthermore, it is “imperative” that “the court apply a rigorous analysis to assure the prerequisites of Rule 23(a) have been satisfied.” *Id.* at 467, 388 S.E.2d at 801 (citing *General Tel. Co. of Southwest v. Falcon*, 457 U.S. 147 (1982)); *Gardner*, 353 S.C. at 21, 577 S.E.2d at 200 (“In deciding whether class certification is proper, the court must apply a rigorous analysis to determine each prerequisite is satisfied.”).⁶ The trial court failed to apply the required “rigorous analysis” here.

⁶ As the *Gardner* court’s frequent citations to federal case law indicate, South Carolina courts look to interpretations of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 where there is no South Carolina decision on point, as the Supreme Court held in a prior class action opinion: “Since our Rules of Procedure are based on the Federal Rules, where there is no South Carolina law, we look to the construction placed on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See H. Lightsey & J. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure*, (2d ed. 1985).” *Gardner v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, Inc.*, 304 S.C. 328, 330, 404 S.E.2d 200, 201 (1991); see also *Middleton v. SunStar Acceptance Corp.*, 2000 WL 33385388, n.3 (S.C. C.P. Jan. 13, 2000) (“As the South Carolina Reporter’s Notes indicate, South Carolina’s Rule 23 is ‘drawn principally from Federal Rule 23.’ See also, *McGann v. Mungo*, 287 S.C. 561,

I. THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN CERTIFYING AN INJUNCTIVE RELIEF CLASS.

First, the trial court erred in certifying Plaintiffs' proposed injunctive relief class. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief "to bar Defendant PBA from operating as an insurer without proper authority and license, including barring Defendant PBA from soliciting, marketing, selling and issuing insurance contracts and adjusting claims unless Defendant obtains proper authority and licensing from the states in which it is operating." (Am. Compl. (R. p. 64, para 127)). For multiple reasons, there is no basis to certify an injunctive relief class, and the trial court erred in doing so.

A. The Trial Court Gave No Basis for Enjoining PBA from Communicating with Its Members.

The trial court not only certified a class without the requisite rigorous analysis, it also, seemingly *sua sponte*, entered an injunction ordering that "no party shall communicate with the class members regarding this class action and the allegations contained therein." (Class Cert. Order (R. p. 15)). The court cited no authority to support the injunction, and it effectively strips PBA of the right to communicate with its own members should they inquire about this lawsuit.

It is well settled an injunction "is a drastic remedy issued by a court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff." *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes West Residential Golf Properties, Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 907 (2004). To obtain an injunction, the movant "must establish that (1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) it will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law." *Id.*, 603 S.E.2d at 908. The trial court made no effort to analyze any, let alone all, of those

340 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App 1986) (Court of Appeals cites federal cases and commentary in construing new Rule 23, SCRCP). Citations to federal case law and the federal rules are based on the principal [sic] that interpretations of the federal rule provide guidance in interpreting the South Carolina rule absent material differences in their wording.").

elements, nor did it make any findings that they were present in this case. The trial court reversibly erred in entering the injunction.

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