**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000182
Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-04062

Donald Stanley and Sean Reiter,
Individually and as Class Representatives, Respondents,

v.

Southern States Police Benevolent Association,
Inc. Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Joseph C. Wilson, IV
Carl E. Pierce, II
Daniel F. Lynch, IV
PIERCE, SLOAN, WILSON,
KENNEDY & EARLY, LLC
P.O. Box 22437
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 722-7733

Ronald L. Richter, Jr.
Scott M. Mongillo
BLAND RICHTER, LLP
Peoples Building, Mezzanine Level
18 Broad Street

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

⁶ It is worth repeating that this ban is imposed on *all* parties and *only includes communications regarding the litigation*. The ban does not prevent Defendant from communicating with its members about any other matters.

to protect the interests of the class, notice of settlements, and to address the very class inadequacies that Defendant raises for the first time on appeal:

Whenever the representation appears to the court inadequate fairly to protect the interests of absent persons who may be bound by the judgment, the court may at any time impose additional conditions on the representative parties, or order an amendment of the pleadings, eliminating therefrom all reference to the representation of the absent persons, and in that event the court shall order entry of the judgment in such form as to affect only the parties to the action and those adequately represented.

Rule 23(d)(3), SCRPC.

Based on the requirements of Rule 23, SCRPC, Plaintiffs would urge the Court of Appeals to limit its review of this Certification Order solely to the trial court's ban on party communications regarding the litigation and allow the trial court to address any other issues raised by Defendant regarding commonality, typicality, adequacy, or any other issues governed by Rule 23. Not only is this required by Rule 23, but the trial court is clearly in a better position to rule on these issues as a matter of first impression. Indeed, this is why South Carolina courts have long recognized that class certification orders are generally not appealable.

II. MOST OF THE ARGUMENTS MADE BY DEFENDANT ON APPEAL WERE NOT RAISED BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT AND, THEREFORE, ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Most of issues raised by Defendant on appeal were not raised at the trial court level nor ruled on by the trial court and, therefore, are not preserved for appeal. Rather, Defendant made the unusual choice of opposing class certification by reiterating substantive arguments on damages and standing. Indeed, the majority of Defendant's Appellate Brief is, once again, directed toward Defendant's substantive defenses.

Class certification is concerned only with the elements set forth in Rule 23(a), SCRPC, namely numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy, and amount in controversy. Defendant's

Memorandum in Opposition to Class Certification exhaustively recited the law governing those elements of class certification, but failed to point out how the proposed and certified class did not meet those elements. Rather, Defendant's argument consistently evolved into a reiteration of the substantive issues that had already been raised and rejected twice by the trial court, namely the positions that 1) Plaintiffs have not suffered any damages, and 2) Plaintiffs have no standing.

It is well-settled that "[a] court may not look to the merits when determining whether to certify a class." *Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 333 S.C. 33, 508 S.E.2d 16, 21 (1998); *King v. Am. Gen. Fin., Inc.*, 386 S.C. 82, 687 S.E.2d 321, 324 (2009). Despite this clear law, a review of Defendant's Memoranda and oral arguments show that its counsel was intent to defeating class certification by re-arguing that Plaintiffs suffered no damages and had no standing.

In its initial Memorandum in Opposition to Class Certification, Defendant made, at most, two arguments that actually addressed class certification issues, as opposed to a reiteration of its substantive arguments. To wit, Defendant argued 1) that Plaintiffs could not rely on the pleadings of their Amended Complaint to meet their burden of proof, and 2) Plaintiffs' claims were not typical because some class members may not want the relief sought by Plaintiffs. (R. pp. 1179-1199)

Just like Defendant's Memorandum, the overwhelming majority of argument presented at the October 22, 2018 hearing addressed Defendant's substantive defenses of no damages and no standing. (R. pp. 125-157) Defense counsel made passing reference that Plaintiffs had not met their burden of proof and were seeking damages that some other members might object to, but those were the only "arguments" made in opposition to class certification. These were the only class certification issues raised by Defendant, the only class certification issues addressed by the trial court, and the only class certification issues that should be considered on appeal.

Defendant did not argue, and the trial court did not rule on, the following issues, all of which Defendant has now raised for the first time on appeal:⁷

1. that the trial court did not have the power to bar communications concerning the litigation;
2. that the trial court improperly certified an injunctive relief class;
3. that the reliance and damage elements of any claim defeats commonality;
4. that Defendant's pled affirmative defenses defeat commonality; and
5. that Plaintiffs are not adequate representatives because they do not fall within the class.⁸

None of these arguments were made before the trial or ruled on by the trial court. The law is clear that such arguments cannot be made for the first time on appeal:

[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."); *Long v. Dunlap*, 87 S.C. 8, 68 S.E. 801 (1910) (Supreme Court will not consider any point which was not presented and considered below unless it involves jurisdiction of the court); *Gaffney v. Peeler*, 21 S.C. 55 (1884) (question of law which was not presented to or passed upon by the trial court cannot be raised on appeal); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court).

⁷ Issues raised in Defendant's Motion to Reconsider for the first time are not preserved for review if those issues were not raised during the initial arguments. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) ("Furthermore, a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the circuit court prior to judgment, but did not."). Defendant recognized that no previously raised issues could be argued on a Motion to Reconsider. Defendant's Motion to Reconsider, Page 7 (R. p. 474).

⁸ This issue was not raised even in Defendant's Motion to Reconsider, filed after the class certification Order was entered.

Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–80 (2004).

Similarly, an argument before the trial court must be “sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged.” *Wilder*, 497 S.E.2d at 733. Defendant has not met the standard set by *Wilder*. Both Defendant’s Brief and oral argument were almost completely devoted to substantive defenses, which had already been rejected by the trial court on a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment. Defendant made vague, non-specific references to a purported general failure of proof by Plaintiffs, but did not identify any specific area where the proof was lacking. In addition, Defendant made a vague, unsupported allegation that some members of the class would not support the lawsuit, which somehow defeats class statutes (it does not). These few vague arguments do not suffice to preserve the issues raised on appeal.

Based on Defendant’s failure to preserve the issues, Plaintiffs would ask that this Court only address, at most, those arguments that were raised and actually ruled on at the trial court level, namely 1) whether Plaintiff can rely on its pleadings to support class certification and 2) whether class certification can be defeated based on Defendant’s speculation that class members may be opposed to the relief sought.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CERTIFIED A CLASS IN THIS MATTER.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is within a trial court’s discretion whether a class should be certified. *King*, 687 S.E.2d at 324. Therefore, a court’s decision whether or not to certify a class is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Tilley*, 508 S.E.2d at 16. Of course, it is well-settled that neither the trial court nor the reviewing appellate court can look to the merits of the action when determining whether to certify a class. *Id.*

An abuse of discretion only occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions. *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016).

B. GENERAL LAW GOVERNING CLASS CERTIFICATION

Rule 23(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure governs certification of classes:

- (a) Prerequisites to a Class Action.** One or more members of a class may sue or be sued as representative parties on behalf of all only if the court finds
- (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable,
 - (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class,
 - (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class,
 - (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class, and
 - (5) in cases in which the relief primarily sought is not injunctive or declaratory with respect to the class as a whole, the amount in controversy exceeds one hundred dollars for each member of the class.

Rule 23(a), SCRPC.

“The class-action device saves the resources of both the courts and the parties by permitting an issue potentially affecting every class member to be litigated in an economical fashion under Rule 23.” *Grazia v. SC State Plastering, LLC*, 390 S.C. 562, 703 S.E.2d 197, 204 (2010) (quoting *Califano v. Yamasaki*, 442 U.S. 682, 701, 99 S.Ct. 2545, 2557, 61 L.Ed.2d 176 (1979)). Class actions are favored in South Carolina, and South Carolina's Rule 23 is significantly more expansive than Federal Rule 23:

Our state class action rule differs significantly from its federal counterpart. The drafters of Rule 23, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRPC) intentionally omitted from our state rule the additional requirements found in Federal Rule 23(B), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (FRCP). By omitting the additional requirements, Rule 23, SCRPC, endorses a more expansive view of class action availability than its federal counterpart.

Littlefield v. South Carolina Forestry Comm'n, 337 S.C. 348, 523 S.E.2d 781, 784 (1999).

Moreover, the South Carolina Supreme Court has affirmed the certification of a class of insurance policyholders to protect the interests of those policyholders in the insurance reserves held by a fraternal benefit association, much like Defendant in this case. *Ex parte Rowley*, 200 S.C. 174, 20 S.E.2d 383, 387-88 (1942) (“The interests and claims of the policyholders sought to be protected and preserved in this action are principally against the reserve funds of the association and it seems to us that all the policyholders form a most appropriate class for application of the statute.”).

C. INITIAL CLASS DETERMINATIONS CAN BE BASED ON THE ALLEGATION OF THE COMPLAINT.

The trial court is required to determine if an action should proceed as a class action “as soon as practicable, after the commencement of an action.” Rule 23, SCRCP. Although the burden of proof is on the movant, *Waller v. Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 300 S.C. 465, 388 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1990), this burden can be met by an examination of the pleadings, not a full-blown evidentiary hearing with testimony and affidavits, as Defendant has suggested. In other words, applying “a rigorous analysis,” *Gardner*, 577 S.E.2d at 200, does not mean conducting an evidentiary hearing, it simply means that the trial court must carefully consider each element required for certification, which the trial court plainly did in its 12-page Order.

For instance, with regards to commonality, the party seeking class certification “must **articulate** the existence of significant common, legal, or factual issues which bind the proposed class together.” *Gardner*, 577 S.E.2d at 200 (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted).

A review of the opinions in South Carolina addressing class certification shows that the courts initially reach the class certification determination based largely, if not exclusively, on the pleadings. *Waller*, 388 S.E.2d at 801 (quoting language in complaint in determining adequacy); *Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, 343 S.C. 176, 539 S.E.2d 402, 409 (Ct.App. 2000) (“[T]he

sufficiency of the pleading in meeting the requirements of Rule 23 must be based solely upon the allegations contained within it.”); *McGann v. Mungo*, 287 S.C. 561, 340 S.E.2d 154, 159 (Ct.App. 1986) (“We think the amended complaint sufficiently defines the alleged class, at least for the present.”); *Knowles v. Standard Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 271 S.C. 217, 246 S.E.2d 879, 880 (1978) (“The allegations in this complaint clearly state facts sufficient for the purpose of demurrer to constitute a class action.”). None of these cases imply that a full-blown evidentiary hearing is required. Of course, if a party opposed to certification finds evidence that supports decertification, that party can move to decertify the class at a later date. Rule 23(d)(3), SCRCPP.

As a practical matter, it is difficult to fathom what type of factual testimony would assist the trial court in determining the existence of commonality or typicality. Indeed, commonality is based on the existence of common issues of fact and law. It does not require proof of those facts, just an understanding that there are questions of fact common to the entire class. Such a determination can clearly be reached by a review of the complaint and a consideration of whether the proposed class is bound by common questions of fact and questions of law.

Treatises on class actions are generally in agreement that the initial class determination should be made on the well-pled allegations of the complaint. *See* 2 H. Newberg, *Newberg on Class Actions*, § 7.20 (3d Ed. 1992) (cited with approval in *McGann*, 340 S.E.2d at 159). Allegations of class facts usually constitute a prima facie showing of entitlement to maintain a class action. *Id.* Once a plaintiff has demonstrated a preliminary showing that the legal requirements of Rule 23 have been met, the burden of proof is upon the defendant to demonstrate otherwise. *Newberg*, § 7.22 at 7.74-75. If the facts as alleged by the plaintiff do not materialize, the Court has the ability to later decertify the class. *Id.*

Defendant cannot oppose the class simply by repeatedly claiming that there is some bit of evidence that is lacking without specifying how there has been an evidentiary failure. Plaintiffs have properly pled a class, and the trial court properly exercised its discretion in certifying the class. If some piece of evidence arises that mitigates against class certification, Defendant can move to decertify the class. What is very clear is that the determination of any such effort must begin at the trial court level, not on appeal. At the trial court level, Plaintiffs can conduct any discovery deemed necessary to address Defendant's objections, something that cannot be done when issues are raised for the first time on appeal, as Defendant has done.

In any case, the law is clear that a full-blown evidentiary hearing is not required for class certification, and the trial court can and did conduct a detailed examination based on mostly (although not exclusively) on the pleadings. The trial court cannot address issues that were not raised by Defendant, and certification is definitely not the stage to reach determinations on substantive law. Accordingly, the trial court did not apply any improper standards in assessing class certification.

D. CLASS CERTIFICATION IS AN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURE TO PROTECT THE INTERESTS OF MEMBERS OF A FRATERNAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATION OFFERING INSURANCE POLICIES TO ITS MEMBERS.

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